Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: September 16, 2016 REVISED: January 3, 2017 ACCEPTED: February 7, 2017 PUBLISHED: February 15, 2017

Characterization of Unruh channel in the context of open quantum systems

Subhashish Banerjee,^a Ashutosh Kumar Alok,^a S. Omkar^b and R. Srikanth^c

^a Indian Institute of Technology Jodhpur, Jodhpur 342011, India
^b Seoul National University, Seoul, S. Korea
^c Poornaprajna Institute of Scientific Research, Sadashivnagar, Bengaluru- 560080, India
E-mail: subhashish@iitj.ac.in, akalok@iitj.ac.in, omkar.shrm@gmail.com, srik@poornaprajna.org

ABSTRACT: In this work, we study an important facet of field theories in curved spacetime, viz. the Unruh effect, by making use of ideas of statistical mechanics and quantum foundations. Aspects of decoherence and dissipation, natural artifacts of open quantum systems, along with foundational issues such as the trade-off between coherence and mixing as well as various aspects of quantum correlations are investigated in detail for the Unruh effect. We show how the Unruh effect can be quantified mathematically by the Choi matrix approach. We study how environmentally induced decoherence modifies the effect of the Unruh channel. The differing effects of a dissipative or non-dissipative environment are noted. Further, useful parameters characterizing channel performance such as gate and channel fidelity are applied here to the Unruh channel, both with and without external influences. Squeezing, which is known to play an important role in the context of particle creation, is shown to be a useful resource in a number of scenarios.

KEYWORDS: Quantum Dissipative Systems, Stochastic Processes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1603.05450



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Invitation to Unruh effect	3
3	Degradation of quantum information under Unruh channel	5
	3.1 Effect of QND noise	5
	3.2 Effect of SGAD noise	ç
4	Coherence and mixedness	11
	4.1 QND channel	12
	4.2 SGAD channel	13
5	Average gate and channel fidelity	15
6	Limitations and future directions	17
7	Conclusions	18

1 Introduction

In recent times the tools borrowed from the foundations of quantum mechanics and quantum information have been widely used to probe intriguing topics related to the understanding of the fundamental aspects of nature, such as the physics of the early universe. This includes particle creation in an expanding universe [1, 2], quantum correlations in curved spacetime such as deSitter space time [3–5] and scalar field models of an expanding universe using the Robertson-Walker spacetime, conformally invariant to the Minkowski spacetime [6–8]. A common theme in all these is two sets of vacuua connected by a Bogoliubov transformation. The study of quantum correlations can shed light on these issues.

The ideas of quantum statistical mechanics such as decoherence and dissipation have been applied, fruitfully to study phenomenon such as vacuum fluctuations and particle creation. These enable a deeper understanding as well as provide a statistical interpretation [9] for the well known effects such as the Unruh [10, 11], Hawking [12], and Gibbons-Hawking [13] effects. Interestingly, in recent times, finite time aspects of the Unruh effect have revealed an inverse relation between the acceleration and the temperature, a phenomenon known as the anti-Unruh effect [14, 15]. This sets the scene for the present work where the ideas of open quantum systems and quantum foundations are used to provide a common platform to address the above problems. This would invoke a detailed understanding of various aspects of decoherence and dissipation, natural artifacts of application of open system ideas to the above scenarios. Here, in particular, we study the Unruh effect [10, 11, 16] which predicts thermal like effects from observing uniform acceleration of the Minkowski vacuum. This has attracted intense interest [17-27] and has emerged as a natural quest in the direction of relativistic quantum information [28-41].

In brief, open quantum system is the study of the dynamics of the system of interest taking into account the effect of the system's environment. In general, open system dynamics can be broadly classified into (a) quantum non-demolition (QND), involving decoherence without any dissipation and (b) dissipative, where decoherence is accompanied with dissipation. QND evolution has its roots in gravitational wave detection [42, 43] and is the precussor for Laser Interferometer Gravitational-Wave Observatory (LIGO) [44]. The squeezed generalized amplitude damping (SGAD) [45, 46] is a very general dissipative channel of the Lindblad class and incorporates the well known amplitude damping and generalized amplitude damping channels as limiting cases. The role of the squeezed thermal bath in the present context is very pertinent as squeezing is connected to parametric amplification which is known to play an important role in the context of particle creation [1, 2, 9] and at the same time plays a constructive role in preserving quantum coherence in the presence of decoherence [45, 47, 48].

It is important to realize here that a monochromatic Minkowski mode is associated to a Rindler mode which corresponds to a (highly) non-monochromatic field excitation, as first observed in [49]. As noted there, this is essentially because the relevant Bogoliubov transformation linking the Minkowski to Rindler modes are such that a plane-wave (monochromatic) Minkowski creation operator cannot be written, in general, as a combination of monochromatic Rindler modes. In fact, the assumption that it can be so written is applicable to a class of Minkowski wave packets that are appropriately peaked to satisfy constraints from a suitable Fourier transform. In this work, for simplicity we shall adopt this assumption.

Technically, this means that the entangled state analyzed here corresponds to an entanglement between a Minkowski mode and a specific Unruh mode, namely one for which $q_R = 1$ and $q_L = 0$ in eq. (16) of [49]. Fortunately, as noted already there, the exact, polychromatic treatment reproduces qualitatively all the degrading effects of noise associated with the single-mode assumption.

Another justification for this assumption is that it suffices to exhibit in a simple fashion two features not often studied in the literature:

- to distinguish between the influence of a dissipative or damping environment and non-dissipative or nondemolition environment;
- to highlight the role of squeezing in the external environment, as against a purely thermal effect.

Here, we study various facets of quantum correlations, such as nonlocality, entanglement, teleportation fidelity, coherence and quantum measurement-induced disturbance (a discord-like measure) for the Unruh channel of a Dirac field mode. We highlight the distinction between dephasing and dissipative environmental interactions, by considering the actions of QND and SGAD channels, respectively. The Unruh effect is conventionally seen as a thermal radiation by a uniformly accelerated detector coupled to an appropriate quantized field. The detector is typically a localized and controllable quantum system that is locally coupled to the ambient field. The Unruh channel for the Dirac qubit, i.e., the qubit acted upon by the Unruh channel of a Dirac field mode, under the influence of possible interactions of the QND and SGAD type, is characterized by constructing the corresponding Kraus operators. The trade-off between quantum coherence, a fundamental characteristic of quantumness in the system and mixing is studied. Useful parameters characterizing channel performance are the gate fidelity [50] as well as the average gate fidelity [51]. They represent how well a (noisy) gate performs the operation it is supposed to implement. How well a gate preserves the distinguishability of states is captured by another channel performance parameter, the channel fidelity, introduced in [46]. These channel parameters are applied here to the Unruh channel, both with and without external influences.

Experimental progress in this direction is now attracting considerable attention from the community. Circuit quantum electrodynamics, using Superconducting Quantum Interferometric Devices, is a promising effort in this direction. Here tuneable boundary conditions are possible, corresponding to mirrors moving at speeds close to the speed of light in the medium. This was used to experimentally simulate the scenario of dynamical Casimir effect [52]. This paved the way for investigations into various facets of relativistic quantum information.

The plan of the work is as follows. In section II, we briefly discuss the Unruh channel for the Dirac qubit. This is followed by studying how external influences, characterized by parameters like temperature, squeezing and evolution time, effect various aspects of quantum correlations, such as nonlocality, entanglement, teleportation fidelity and measurementinduced disturbance. Quantum coherence is a characteristic of a quantum operation. Mixing, which is inevitable with evolution, will result in the degradation of coherence. In order to have an operational estimation of the utility of a quantum task, it is imperative to have an understanding of the trade-off between the two [53]. This is done for the Unruh channel, pure as well as in the presence of ambient effects. We then study the average gate and channel fidelities in order to gain insight into the nature of the Unruh channel. In the penultimate section, we discuss how one can address the problems treated here by going beyond the single mode approximation. We then make our conclusions.

2 Invitation to Unruh effect

We consider two observers, Alice (A) and Rob (R) sharing a maximally entangled initial state of two qubits at a point in flat Minkowski spacetime. Then Rob moves with a uniform acceleration and Alice stays stationary. Moreover, we assume that the observers are equipped with detectors that are sensitive only to their respective modes and share the following maximally entangled initial state:

$$|\psi\rangle_{A,R} = \frac{|00\rangle_{A,R} + |11\rangle_{A,R}}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (2.1)

Suppose R gets uniformly accelerated with acceleration a. Under the caveat about the scope and limitations of the monochromaticity assumption in light of [49], as discussed above, from R's frame the Minkowski vacuum state transforms to the Unruh mode giving a two mode squeezed state

$$|0\rangle_R = \cos r |0\rangle_I |0\rangle_{II} + \sin r |1\rangle_I |1\rangle_{II}$$

and the excited state is

$$|1\rangle_R = \cos r |1\rangle_I |0\rangle_{II},$$

where $\cos r = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+e^{-\frac{2\pi\omega c}{a}}}}$ and ω is Dirac particle frequency with acceleration a, c being the speed of light in vacuum. In the above equations, the regions I and II are causally disconnected regions, in Rindler's spacetime. The state in eq. (2.1) has contribution from the regions I and II. Since these regions are disconnected, the mode corresponding to II can be traced out to obtain the following density matrix

$$\rho_{A,I} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\cos^2 r |00\rangle \langle 00| + \cos r (|00\rangle \langle 11| + |11\rangle \langle 00|) + \sin^2 r |01\rangle \langle 01| + |11\rangle \langle 11| \right].$$
(2.2)

It would be pertinent, here, to have a discussion related to the choice of tensor product decomposition in a fermionic system. This arises from the issues related to superselection rules, restricting the superpositions of bosons and fermions [54]. A careful use of the superselection rules is important for determining the class of states permissible for describing a composite system of, for e.g., two fermions [55-58]. Thus, for e.g., given a fermionic vacuum state $|0,0\rangle$, one could generate the states $|1,0\rangle = a_1^{\dagger}|0,0\rangle$, $|0,1\rangle = a_2^{\dagger}|0,0\rangle$, $|1,1\rangle = a_2^{\dagger}a_1^{\dagger}|0,0\rangle$. Here the operators acting in the space $C^2 \otimes C^2$ have the form $a_1 = a \otimes I_2$, $a_2 = I_2 \otimes a$, with analogous creation operators. However, the tensor product \otimes , used here, is a modified tensor product defined by the graded multiplication rule [59]

$$(O \otimes m) (n \otimes P) = (-1)^{F(n)F(m)} On \otimes mP,$$
(2.3)

where m, n are monomials in the annihilation and creation operators and F(n) is the fermion number, equal to the access of the number of creation operators to the number of annihilation operators required to build n.

Consider the maximally entangled two mode state in which the second mode is Unruh accelerated. The state is represented by

$$\rho_u = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2 r & 0 & 0 \cos r \\ 0 & \sin^2 r & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \cos r & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.4)

Leaving out the factor 1/2 in ρ_u , the corresponding Choi matrix [60, 61] is $|i\rangle\langle i|\mathcal{E}(|j\rangle\langle j|)$, from which the Kraus representation of the Unruh channel can be obtained. Following the procedure for constructing Kraus operators we have

$$K_1^u = \begin{pmatrix} \cos r & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad K_2^u = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \sin r & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.5)

The above Kraus operators are similar to

$$K_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{1-\gamma} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad K_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ \sqrt{\gamma} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.6}$$

which represents the dissipative interaction of a qubit with the vacuum bath, i.e., an amplitude damping channel [45, 46]. Here $\gamma = \frac{1}{e^{K_B^{\omega_T}}}$. However, this identification is not strict in the sense that the Unruh channel, though resembling the effect of a vacuum bath is not exactly synonymous with it, a point that was elucidated in [62]. This also brings into focus a point raised recently in [15] by the question whether the influence of the Unruh effect on the system of interest, there a topological qubit, was same as a thermal one or not. From the above, we have provided an answer to this.

Once we have the Kraus operators of the Unruh channel, we can calculate its effect on a qubit in pure state given by

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2(\theta/2) & e^{i\phi}\cos(\theta/2)\sin(\theta/2) \\ e^{-i\phi}\cos(\theta/2)\sin(\theta/2) & \sin^2(\theta/2) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.7)

The action of the Unruh channel on the state ρ is

$$\mathcal{E}_{u}(\rho) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos^{2} r \cos^{2}(\theta/2) & \cos r e^{i\phi} \cos(\theta/2) \sin(\theta/2) \\ \cos r e^{-i\phi} \cos(\theta/2) \sin(\theta/2) & \sin^{2} r \cos^{2}(\theta/2) + \sin^{2}(\theta/2) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.8)

3 Degradation of quantum information under Unruh channel

The nonclassicality of quantum correlations can be characterized in terms of nonlocality B (for e.g., Bell inequality violation [63, 64]), entanglement, characterized here by concurrence C [65], teleportation fidelity F_{max} [66] or weaker nonclassicality measures like measurement induced disturbance M [67, 68]. In the accelerated reference frame, the Unruh effect degrades the quantumness of the state (2.2) [40, 62]. To achieve our goal, we consider the scenario wherein only Rob's qubit is interacting with a noisy environment, for e.g., a scalar field. The other case in which both the qubits of the two observers interact with a noisy environment is not seen here to produce any qualitatively useful insight and hence is not considered in what follows.

3.1 Effect of QND noise

QND is a purely dephasing noise channel whose action on a qubit, characterized by frequency ω_0 , can be studied using the following Kraus operators [69–71]

$$K_1 = \sqrt{\frac{1 - e^{-\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)}}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\omega_0 t} & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}; \quad K_2 = \sqrt{\frac{1 + e^{-\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)}}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\omega_0 t} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.1)

Assuming an Ohmic bath spectral density with an upper cut-off frequency ω_c , it can be shown that

$$\gamma(t) = \left(\frac{\gamma_0 k_B T}{\pi \hbar \omega_c}\right) \cosh(2s) \left(2\omega_c t \tan^{-1}(\omega_c t) + \ln\left[\frac{1}{1+\omega_c^2 t^2}\right]\right) - \left(\frac{\gamma_0 k_B T}{2\pi \hbar \omega_c}\right) \sinh(2s) \left(4\omega_c (t-a) \tan^{-1}[2\omega_c (t-a)] - 4\omega_c (t-2a) \tan^{-1}[\omega_c (t-2a)] + 4a\omega_c \tan^{-1}(2a\omega_c) + \ln\left[\frac{(1+\omega_c^2 (t-2a)^2)^2}{1+4\omega_c^2 (t-a)^2}\right] + \ln\left[\frac{1}{1+4a^2\omega_c^2}\right]\right).$$
(3.2)

Here T is the reservoir temperature, while a and s are bath squeezing parameters. Now, the corresponding Choi matrix have the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos^2 r & 0 & 0 & e^{i\omega_0 t} e^{-\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)} \cos r \\ 0 & \sin^2 r & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ e^{-i\omega_0 t} e^{-\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)} \cos r & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.3)

The new Kraus operators are

$$K_{1} = \frac{\sqrt{\cos 2r + 3 - 2e^{-\frac{1}{4}\left(\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t)\right)\sqrt{\mathcal{A}}}}}{2\sqrt{\frac{1}{4}\sec^{2}r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} + e^{\frac{1}{4}\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t)}\sin^{2}r\right)^{2} + 1}} \times \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}e^{i\omega_{0}t}\sec r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} + e^{\frac{1}{4}\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t)}\sin^{2}r\right) 0\\0&1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$K_{2} = \frac{\sqrt{\cos 2r + 3 + 2e^{-\frac{1}{4}(\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t))}\sqrt{\mathcal{A}}}}{2\sqrt{\frac{1}{4}\sec^{2}r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} - e^{\frac{1}{4}\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t)}\sin^{2}(r)\right)^{2} + 1}} \times \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}e^{it\omega}\sec r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} - e^{\frac{1}{4}\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t)}\sin^{2}r\right) 0}{0 & 1} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$K_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\\sin r & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.4}$$

where $\mathcal{A} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)} \sin^4 r + 2\cos 2r + 2$ and the Kraus operators satisfy the completeness $\sum_i^3 K_i^{\dagger} K_i = \mathbb{I}$.

For the initial time t = 0, when the QND interaction has not begun, $e^{-\omega_0^2\gamma(t)} = 1$ and the above Kraus operators reduce to that in eq. (2.5). The composition of the dephasing channel with the Unruh channel has 3 Kraus operators, essentially because only three of the resulting four operators obtained under composition, are linearly independent. To see this, let the two Kraus operators of the amplitude damping channel be denoted

$$\mathcal{A}_1 \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{1-\lambda} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{A}_2 \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \sqrt{\lambda} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and those for the dephasing channel by

$$\mathcal{D}_1 \equiv \sqrt{p} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{D}_2 \equiv \sqrt{1-p} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The composition of these two channels has the Kraus operators $\mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{A}_1$, $\mathcal{D}_2\mathcal{A}_1$, $\mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{A}_2$ and $\mathcal{D}_2\mathcal{A}_2$, where the last two terms, namely,

$$\mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{A}_2 = \sqrt{p\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{A}_2 = \sqrt{p\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, (3.5)

are equivalent in that they produce the same noise effect. Thus, the composed noise channel has a rank of three corresponding to the independent Kraus operators $\mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{A}_1$, $\mathcal{D}_2\mathcal{A}_1$, and $\mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{A}_2$ or $\mathcal{D}_2\mathcal{A}_2$.

The QND channel acting on the Unruh qubit effects its quantum characteristics and can be studied by the behavior of the different facets of quantum correlations. For the case of QND noise acting on Rob, analytical expressions can be obtained for the corresponding measures of quantum correlations which are as follows,

$$M = \frac{1}{8} \left[4 + \frac{3 + \cos 2r - 2\sqrt{4e^{-\omega_0^4 \gamma^2(t)} \cos^2 r + \sin^4 r}}{8} \right] \\ \times \log \left(\frac{3 + \cos 2r - 2\sqrt{4e^{-\omega_0^4 \gamma^2(t)} \cos^2 r + \sin^4 r}}{8} \right) \\ + \frac{3 + \cos 2r + 2\sqrt{4e^{-\omega_0^4 \gamma^2(t)} \cos^2 r + \sin^4 r}}{8} \\ \times \log \left(\frac{3 + \cos 2r + 2\sqrt{4e^{-\omega_0^4 \gamma^2(t)} \cos^2 r + \sin^4 r}}{8} \right) \\ - 4\cos^2 r \log \left(\frac{\cos^2 r}{2} \right) \right],$$
(3.6)

$$F_{\max} = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 + \frac{\cos r}{3} \left(2e^{-\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)} + \cos r \right) \right], \tag{3.7}$$

$$B = 2e^{-\omega_0^4 \gamma^2(t)} \cos^2 r.$$
(3.8)

The analytical expression for entanglement C turns out to be very involved. Hence we only provide a numerical analysis. For the initial time t = 0 when QND interaction has not begun, $e^{-\omega_0^2\gamma(t)} = 1$ and the expressions F_{max} , B and M in the above equations reduce to the pure Unruh-effect case.

The figures 1 to 4 correspond to the behavior of various aspects of quantum correlations of the Unruh channel under the influence of QND noise. It can be seen from figure 1(a) that as reservoir squeezing s increases, the channel becomes local even for a small external temperature T. Also, from figure 1(b) the channel is seen to become local with increase in the Unruh acceleration depicted, here, by r. Entanglement is seen, in figure 2(a), to decrease with increase in s. This feature is more prominent for T > 1. From figure 2(b), for a given value of r, entanglement is seen to decrease with time. For |s| < 2, figure 3(a) shows that $F_{\text{max}} > \frac{2}{3}$, $\frac{2}{3}$ being the classical threshold, for the given temperature range. Also, F_{max} decreases with increase in r and time of evolution t, figure 3(b). M, figure 4, is seen to decrease with increase in the parameters t, s, T and r.



Figure 1. (a) Plot of Bell's inequality *B* against bath temperature *T* and squeezing *s* due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and the qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Plot of *B* against *t* and *r* while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 1$, a = 0 and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.



Figure 2. (a) Plot of concurrence C against bath temperature T and squeezing s due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and the qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Plot of C against t and r while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 1$, a = 0 and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.



Figure 3. (a) Plot of teleportation fidelity F_{max} against bath temperature T and squeezing s due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and the qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Plot of $F_{\text{max}} t r$ while T = 1.5 and s = 1.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 1$, a = 0 and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.



Figure 4. (a) Plot of M against bath temperature T and squeezing s due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and the qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Plot of Magainst t and r while T = 1.5 and s = 1.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 1$, a = 0 and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.

3.2 Effect of SGAD noise

The Kraus corresponding to the SGAD channel are

$$K_{1} \equiv \sqrt{p_{1}} \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{1-\alpha} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad K_{2} \equiv \sqrt{p_{1}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ \sqrt{\alpha} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (3.9)$$
$$K_{3} \equiv \sqrt{p_{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{1-\mu} & 0\\ 0 & \sqrt{1-\nu} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad K_{4} \equiv \sqrt{p_{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sqrt{\nu}\\ \sqrt{\mu}e^{-i\phi_{s}} & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where $p_1 + p_2 = 1$ [45]. Here

$$p_{2} = \frac{1}{(A+B-C-1)^{2}-4D} \times \left[A^{2}B+C^{2}+A(B^{2}-C-B(1+C)-D)-(1+B)D - C(B+D-1)\pm 2\sqrt{D(B-AB+(A-1)C+D)(A-AB+(B-1)C+D)}\right],$$
(3.10)

where

$$A = \frac{2N+1}{2N} \frac{\sinh^2(\gamma_0 at/2)}{\sinh(\gamma_0(2N+1)t/2)} \exp\left(-\gamma_0(2N+1)t/2\right),$$

$$B = \frac{N}{2N+1} (1 - \exp(-\gamma_0(2N+1)t)),$$

$$C = A + B + \exp(-\gamma_0(2N+1)t),$$

$$D = \cosh^2(\gamma_0 at/2) \exp(-\gamma_0(2N+1)t).$$
(3.11)

Also,

$$\nu = \frac{N}{(p_2)(2N+1)} (1 - e^{-\gamma_0(2N+1)t}),$$

$$\mu = \frac{2N+1}{2(p_2)N} \frac{\sinh^2(\gamma_0 at/2)}{\sinh(\gamma_0(2N+1)t/2)} \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_0}{2}(2N+1)t\right),$$

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{p_1} \left(1 - p_2[\mu(t) + \nu(t)] - e^{-\gamma_0(2N+1)t}\right).$$
(3.12)



Figure 5. (a) Plot of Bell's inequality *B* against bath temperature *T* and squeezing *s* due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of *B* against *t* and *r* while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and $\phi_s = 0$.



Figure 6. (a) Plot of concurrence C against bath temperature T and squeezing s due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of C against t and r while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and $\phi_s = 0$.

Also $N = N_{\rm th} [\cosh^2(s) + \sinh^2(s)] + \sinh^2(s)$, $a = \sinh(2s)(2N_{\rm th} + 1)$ where $N_{\rm th} = 1/(e^{\hbar\omega_0/k_BT} - 1)$ is the Planck distribution giving the number of thermal photons at the frequency ω_0 ; s and ϕ_s are bath squeezing parameters.

The analytical expressions are complicated and hence we resort to numerical discussions. The figures 5–8 correspond to the behavior of various aspects of quantum correlations of the Unruh channel under the influence of SGAD noise. From figure 5(a) it can be seen that for certain range of T, squeezing enhances B. However, for the values of the parameters indicated, it never crosses the threshold of nonlocality (B > 1). From figure 5(b) it can be seen that with increase in r and t, B decreases and the channel becomes local. From figure 6(a), concurrence is seen to drop drastically to zero with increase in T. Also for large values of s, concurrence is seen to fall to zero, irrespective of T. Figure 6(b) depicts the decrease of concurrence with respect to time for any give value of r. From figure 7, F_{max} is seen to decrease with T, s, r and t. From figure 8, M is seen to decrease with increase in the parameters r and t. However for certain range of T, M is seen to increase with bath squeezing s, reiterating the usefulness of squeezing.



Figure 7. (a) Plot of teleportation fidelity F_{max} against bath temperature T and squeezing s due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of F_{max} against t and r while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and $\phi_s = 0$.



Figure 8. (a) Plot of measurement induced disturbance M against bath temperature T and squeezing s due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit accelerated at $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of M against t and r while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and $\phi_s = 0$.

4 Coherence and mixedness

Coherence plays a central role in quantum mechanics [37] enabling operations or tasks which are impossible within the regime of classical mechanics. As a resource in quantum operations, it has attracted much attention in recent times [53].

For a quantum state represented by density matrix ρ in basis $\{|i\rangle\}$, the l_1 norm of coherence is given by

$$\mathcal{C}(\rho) = \sum_{i \neq j} |\rho_{i,j}|.$$
(4.1)

The mixedness, which is basically normalized linear entropy, of a d dimensional quantum state ρ is given by [72]

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{d}{d-1}(1 - \mathrm{Tr}\rho^2). \tag{4.2}$$

The inequality relation between the $C(\rho)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ is [53]

$$\frac{\mathcal{C}(\rho)^2}{(d-1)^2} + \mathcal{M}(\rho) \le 1.$$
(4.3)



Figure 9. Plot of (a) coherence $C(\rho)$ and (b) mixedness $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit parameterized by $\theta = \pi/4$, $\phi = \pi/4$ w.r.t. bath squeezing s and temperature T, while qubit-bath interaction time t = 2 and Rob's acceleration $r = \pi/8$. The other parameters are a = 0, $\omega_0 = 0.1$ and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.



Figure 10. Variation of (a) coherence $C(\rho)$ and (b) mixedness $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit parameterized by $\theta = \pi/4$, $\phi = \pi/4$ w.r.t. qubit-bath interaction time t and Rob's acceleration r, while bath temperature T = 0.5 and bath squeezing s = 0.5. The other parameters are a = 0, $\omega_0 = 0.1$ and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.

When this inequality is saturated for certain values of $C(\rho)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$, the situation corresponds to states which have maximum coherence for a given mixedness in the states. Such states are known as Maximally Coherent Mixed States (MCMS).

4.1 QND channel

The analytical expressions for coherence and mixedness of the Unruh channel under the influence of the QND noise are

$$C(\rho) = \cos\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\cos^{r}e^{-\frac{\omega_{0}^{2}\gamma(t)}{4}},$$
(4.4)

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \cos^2 r \left(\cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2} (3 - \cos 2r - 2\cos^2 r \cos \theta) - e^{-\frac{\omega_0^2 \gamma(t)}{2}} \sin^2 \theta \right), \tag{4.5}$$

respectively.

From figure 9, coherence C is seen to decrease with increase in temperature T as well as reservoir squeezing s. Mixing \mathcal{M} increases with both T and s. From figure 10, it can



Figure 11. Plot of (a) coherence $C(\rho)$ and (b) mixedness $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit parameterized by $\theta = \pi/4$, $\phi = \pi/4$ w.r.t. bath squeezing s and temperature T, while qubit-bath interaction time t = 2 and Rob's acceleration $r = \pi/8$. The other parameters are $\phi_s = 0, \omega_0 = 0.1$ and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.

be seen that coherence decreases with t whereas mixedness increases with t as well as r, a feature which is consistent with common intuition.

4.2 SGAD channel

The analytical expressions for coherence and mixedness of the Unruh channel under the influence of the SGAD noise is

$$\mathcal{C}(\rho) = \cos r \sin \theta \sqrt{(p_1 \sqrt{1-\alpha} + p_2 \sqrt{(1-\mu)(1-\nu)})^2 + p_2^2 \mu \nu + 2\cos(2\phi - \phi_s) \sqrt{\mu\nu}(p_1 \sqrt{1-\alpha} + p_2 \sqrt{(1-\mu)(1-\nu)})},$$
(4.6)
$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = 2 \left(1 - \left(\cos \frac{\theta^2}{2} ((p_1 + p_2 - p_1 \alpha - p_2 \mu) \cos^2 r + p_2 \nu \sin^2 r) + p_2 \nu \sin^2 \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^2 - \left((p_1 \alpha + p_2 \mu) \cos^2 r \cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2} + (p_1 + p_2 - p_2 \nu) \left(\cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2} \sin^2 r + \sin^2 \frac{\theta}{2} \right) \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2} e^{-i\phi - i(\phi + \phi_s)} \left(e^{i\phi_s} (p_1 \sqrt{1-\alpha} + p_2 \sqrt{1-\mu} \sqrt{1-\nu}) + e^{2i\phi} p_2 \sqrt{\mu} \sqrt{\nu} \right) \\ \times \left(e^{2i\phi} (p_1 \sqrt{1-\alpha} + p_2 \sqrt{1-\mu} \sqrt{1-\nu}) + e^{i\phi_s} p_2 \sqrt{\mu} \sqrt{\nu} \right) \cos^2 r \sin^2 \theta \right),$$
(4.7)

respectively. From figure 11(a), it is observed that for a certain range of temperature T, coherence C increases with squeezing s while in another range, it decreases with s, in consistence with the quadrature nature of squeezing. Also, finite s brings a notion of stability in the behavior of coherence C as a function of external temperature T. Thus, squeezing s once again emerges as a useful resource. The expected increase in mixing \mathcal{M} with increase in T is observed in figure 11(b). From figure 12, it can be seen that coherence decreases with increase in t and r whereas mixedness increases rapidly with t.

From figure 13 and 14, it is clear that the inequality eq. (4.3) is respected for both QND and SGAD noises, respectively. In particular, from figure 13(a), due to the action of QND noise, it can be seen that for t = 2 and $r = \pi/8$, by varying parameters T and s we cannot get any MCMS as the inequality is not saturated. However, fixing T and s to 0.5



Figure 12. Variation of (a) coherence $C(\rho)$ and (b) mixedness $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit parameterized by $\theta = \pi/4$, $\phi = \pi/4$ w.r.t. qubit-bath interaction time t and Rob's acceleration r, while bath temperature T = 0.5 and bath squeezing s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\phi_s = 0$, $\omega_0 = 0.1$ and $\gamma_0 = 0.1$.



Figure 13. (a) Plot of inequality \mathcal{I} in eq. (4.3) due to action of QND channel on Rob's qubit w.r.t. bath temperature T and bath squeezing s while qubit-bath interaction time t = 2 and Rob's acceleration $r = \pi/8$. (b) \mathcal{I} plotted against t and r while T = 0.5, s = 0.5. The other parameters are a = 0, $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and the input state is parameterized by $\theta = \pi/4$, $\phi = \pi/4$.



Figure 14. (a) Plot of inequality \mathcal{I} in eq. (4.3) due to action of SGAD channel on Rob's qubit w.r.t. bath temperature T and bath squeezing s while qubit-bath interaction time t = 2 and Rob's acceleration $r = \pi/8$. (b) \mathcal{I} plotted against t and r while T = 0.5, s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\phi_s = 0$, $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and the input state is parameterized by $\theta = \pi/4$, $\phi = \pi/4$.



Figure 15. (a) Plot of average gate fidelity $G_{\rm av}$ against bath temperature T and squeezing s when Rob's accelerated qubit is subjected to a QND channel, while Rob's acceleration $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Plot of $G_{\rm av}$ against t and r, while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and a = 0.

and varying r, MCMS can be achieved, as can be seen from figure 13(b). For the case of SGAD noise, figure 14(a) depicts that for t = 2 and $r = \pi/8$, by varying the parameters T and s MCMS states can be attained. Also, by fixing T and s to 0.5 and varying r and t, MCMS can be achieved as can be seen from figure 14(b).

5 Average gate and channel fidelity

In this work we are trying to understand the Unruh channel under the influence of external noisy effects. A useful way to understand this is to analyze the average gate and channel fidelities [46] of the Unruh channel under the ambient environmental conditions.

The average gate fidelity [45, 50, 51] has a closed expression

$$G_{\rm av} = \frac{d + \sum_i |\text{Tr}(E_i)|^2}{d(d+1)}.$$
(5.1)

For the Unruh channel $G_{av} = \frac{1}{6} (2 + (1 + \cos r)^2)$, where d is the dimensionality of the system on which channel \mathcal{E} acts with operator sum representation elements E_i .

For the QND-Unruh channel

$$|\operatorname{Tr}(\mathbf{E}_{i})|^{2} = \frac{\left(2\sqrt{\mathcal{A}}e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}} + \cos 2r + 3\right)\left(\sec r\cos\omega_{0}t\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} - e^{\frac{\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}}{4}}\sin^{2}r\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sec^{2}r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} - e^{\frac{\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}}{4}}\sin^{2}r\right)^{2} + 1\right)}{\sec^{2}r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} - e^{\frac{\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}}{4}}\sin^{2}r\right)^{2} + 4} + \frac{\left(-2\sqrt{\mathcal{A}}e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}} + \cos r + 3\right)\left(-\sec r\cos\omega_{0}t\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} + e^{\frac{\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}}{4}}\sin^{2}r\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sec^{2}r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} + e^{\frac{\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}}{4}}\sin^{2}r\right)^{2} + 1\right)}{\sec^{2}r\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{A}} + e^{\frac{\gamma\omega_{0}^{2}}{4}}\sin^{2}r\right)^{2} + 4},$$

$$(5.2)$$

using which G_{av} can be calculated. In the limit $t \rightarrow 0$ this reduces to the Unruh case. Unlike the QND case, the analytical expression for G_{av} for the SGAD channel is very involved, and hence we discuss this case numerically.



Figure 16. (a) Plot of average gate fidelity $G_{\rm av}$ against bath temperature T and squeezing s when Rob's accelerated qubit is subjected to a SGAD channel, while Rob's acceleration $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of $G_{\rm av}$ against t and r while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and $\phi_s = 0$.

From figure 15(a), it can be seen that G_{av} is stable for a certain range of squeezing, after which it falls. G_{av} is also seen to decrease with r. However with time, G_{av} first decreases and then is then seen to increase. Since the expression for G_{av} has the oscillatory term $\cos \omega_0 t$, oscillation is seen in figure 15(b) with time t.

From figures 16, a general trend is observed of average gate fidelity $G_{\rm av}$, under the influence of the SGAD channel, decreasing with increase in T as well as evolution time t, for a given r. However, as can be observed from figure 16(a), for a certain range of T, $G_{\rm av}$ is seen to increase with reservoir squeezing s. This indicates that squeezing can be a useful quantum resource in this scenario.

Another quantity frequently used to access the channel's performance is the channel fidelity [45, 46]

$$\chi = \max_{\mathcal{B}} \kappa(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{E}), \tag{5.3}$$

where $\kappa(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{E})$ is the Holevo bound for states prepared in basis \mathcal{B} and passed through the channel \mathcal{E} . By numerical techniques it was learned that the maximum is achieved for the states prepared in the basis states $\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + |1\rangle), \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle - |1\rangle)\}$. κ signifies how well the quantum input states are distinguishable after the action of the channel \mathcal{E} . When classical information is encodes in to the quantum states, it can also be interpreted as the amount of extractable classical information.

From figure 17(a) it can be seen that χ , for the Unruh-QND channel, decreases with both s and T. This behavior is due to the dephasing caused by QND channel and alteration of the diagonal and off-diagonal terms by Unruh channel of the input states. The χ also decreases with the r and t as seen from the figure 17(b). The Unruh-SGAD channel drives the input states towards an asymptotic state determined by the channel parameters reducing the distinguishability of the states, i.e., reducing the χ . By increasing the bath squeezing, the coherence in the input states increases [46] leading to a rise in χ for a given range of temperature, as seen in the figure 18(a). Figure 18(b) shows that as the Unruh-SGAD channel acts χ decreases with both r and t as both the parameters drive the input states towards an asymptotic state.



Figure 17. (a) Plot of channel fidelity χ against bath temperature T and squeezing s when Rob's accelerated qubit is subjected to QND channel, while Rob's acceleration corresponds to $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of χ against t for and r, while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and a = 0. In the figures input states used are $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle \pm |1\rangle)$.



Figure 18. (a) Plot of channel fidelity χ against bath temperature T and squeezing s when Rob's accelerated qubit is subjected to SGAD channel, while Rob's acceleration corresponds to $r = \pi/8$ and qubit-bath interaction time t = 0.5. (b) Variation of χ against t for and r, while T = 0.5 and s = 0.5. The other parameters are $\omega_0 = 0.1$, $\gamma_0 = 0.1$ and $\phi_s = 0$. In the figures input states used are $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle \pm |1\rangle)$.

6 Limitations and future directions

In this article, we have worked with the combinations of Minkowski modes [49, 73–75], using the single mode approximation [49] which attempts to relate a single frequency Minkowski mode (observed by an inertial observer) with a single frequency Rindler mode (observed by a uniformly accelerated observer). A monochromatic Minkowski mode is associated to a Rindler mode which corresponds to a non-monochromatic field excitation. The relevant Bogoliubov transformations are such that a plane-wave Minkowski creation operator cannot be written, in general, as a combination of monochromatic Rindler modes [49].

The present analysis can be extended beyond the single mode approximation. As an example, one can consider a general Unruh mode of the form

$$d_{k,U}^{\dagger} = q_R \left(D_{k,R}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathcal{I}_L \right) + q_L \left(\mathcal{I}_R \otimes D_{k,L}^{\dagger} \right), \tag{6.1}$$

where $D_{k,R}^{\dagger}$, $D_{k,L}^{\dagger}$ are Unruh creation operators and q_L , q_R are complex numbers, the sum of whose modulus square is equal to one. In our analysis $q_L = 0$ and $q_R = 1$. Inclusion of both q_L and q_R in the analysis would enable the study of particle and antiparticle modes of Rob and anti-Rob in the study of fermionic entanglement. This results in entanglement redistribution between the particle and anti-particle sectors, a feature not possible in the bosonic sector. As a result, there is non-vanishing minimum value of fermionic entanglement in the limit of infinite acceleration, a result that is also seen in the case of a single-mode approximation scheme [62]. However, keeping both q_L and q_R enables one to reach a physical understanding of this residual entanglement [73, 74]. This is independent of the choice of the Unruh mode. This was made explicit in [76].

Here we have investigated in detail, in terms of various aspects of quantum correlations, how environmentally induced decoherence and dissipation, natural artifacts of open quantum systems, modify the effect of the Unruh channel. The single-mode treatment, such as that adopted here, can still be useful for exhibiting in a simple way important facets of external noise, such as the differing effects of a dissipative or non-dissipative environment, the role of squeezing, which is known to play an important role in the context of particle creation, and finally, how external noise can enhance the Unruh effect's degrading effect on quantum information. Keeping in mind the bigger picture that emerges if one were to go beyond the single mode approximation, it would be worth extending the present analysis in this direction. This would be possible by a straightforward application of the tools developed in this work and would enable a deeper insight into the effect of external noise channels on the tradeoff between the particle anti-particle sector.

Another key progress that has been made in the field of relativistic quantum information in recent times, is the introduction and use of localized modes for Alice and the accelerated observer, here the detector, Rob [77, 78]. The principle behind the degradation of quantum correlations emerged to be due to the mode mismatch between what was received and what could be observed by the accelerated detector. It would be interesting, albeit an algebraically involved procedure, to apply the tools of quantum statistical mechanics, as used here, to the localized mode formulation of the problem.

7 Conclusions

In this work, we make use of ideas of statistical mechanics and quantum foundations on an important facet of field theories in curved space time, viz. the Unruh effect. We study how environmentally induced decoherence modifies the effect of the Unruh channel, essentially by investigating the degradation of quantum correlations, as quantified by measures such as nonlocality, mixed-state entanglement, teleportation fidelity, coherence and a discord-like quantity. The differing effects of an environment that interacts dissipatively or non-dissipatively are noted. In particular, the latter is shown to lead to a non-Pauli channel of rank 3. Further, useful parameters characterizing channel performance such as gate and channel fidelity are applied here to the Unruh channel, both with and without external influences. Squeezing, which is known to play an important role in the context of particle

creation, is shown to be a useful resource in a number of scenarios. We hope this work is a contribution towards the understanding of the Unruh effect.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] L. Parker, Particle creation in expanding universes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 21 (1968) 562 [INSPIRE].
- Ya. B. Zeldovich and A.A. Starobinsky, Particle production and vacuum polarization in an anisotropic gravitational field, Sov. Phys. JETP 34 (1972) 1159 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 61 (1971) 2161] [INSPIRE].
- [3] J. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, Entanglement entropy in de Sitter space, JHEP 02 (2013)
 038 [arXiv:1210.7244] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Kanno, J. Murugan, J.P. Shock and J. Soda, Entanglement entropy of α-vacua in de Sitter space, JHEP 07 (2014) 072 [arXiv:1404.6815] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Kanno, J.P. Shock and J. Soda, Quantum discord in de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 125014 [arXiv:1608.02853] [INSPIRE].
- [6] N.D. Birrell and L.H. Ford, Selfinteracting quantized fields and particle creation in Robertson-Walker universes, Annals Phys. 122 (1979) 1 [Erratum ibid. 134 (1981) 436]
 [INSPIRE].
- [7] Y. Li, Y. Dai and Y. Shi, Decoherence and disentanglement of qubits detecting scalar fields in an expanded universe, arXiv:1606.06163 [INSPIRE].
- [8] H. Alexander, G. de Souza, P. Mansfield, I.G. da Paz and M. Sampaio, Entanglement of self interacting scalar fields in an expanding spacetime, Europhys. Lett. 115 (2016) 10006
 [arXiv:1607.03159] [INSPIRE].
- [9] B.L. Hu and A. Matacz, Quantum Brownian motion in a bath of parametric oscillators: a model for system-field interactions, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 6612 [gr-qc/9312035] [INSPIRE].
- P.C.W. Davies, Scalar particle production in Schwarzschild and Rindler metrics, J. Phys. A 8 (1975) 609 [INSPIRE].
- [11] W.G. Unruh, Notes on black hole evaporation, Phys. Rev. D 14 (1976) 870.
- S.W. Hawking, Particle creation by black holes, Commun. Math. Phys. 43 (1975) 199
 [Erratum ibid. 46 (1976) 206] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G.W. Gibbons and S.W. Hawking, Cosmological event horizons, thermodynamics and particle creation, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 2738 [INSPIRE].
- W.G. Brenna, R.B. Mann and E. Martin-Martinez, Anti-Unruh phenomena, Phys. Lett. B 757 (2016) 307 [arXiv:1504.02468] [INSPIRE].
- P.-H. Liu and F.-L. Lin, Decoherence of topological qubit in linear and circular motions: decoherence impedance, anti-Unruh and information backflow, JHEP 07 (2016) 084
 [arXiv:1603.05136] [INSPIRE].
- [16] L.C.B. Crispino, A. Higuchi and G.E.A. Matsas, The Unruh effect and its applications, Rev. Mod. Phys. 80 (2008) 787 [arXiv:0710.5373] [INSPIRE].

- [17] P.M. Alsing and G.J. Milburn, Teleportation with a uniformly accelerated partner, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91 (2003) 180404 [quant-ph/0302179] [INSPIRE].
- [18] Z. Tian, J. Wang and J. Jing, Nonlocality and entanglement via the Unruh effect, Annals Phys. 332 (2013) 98 [arXiv:1301.5987] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J. Doukas, S.-Y. Lin, B.L. Hu and R.B. Mann, Unruh effect under non-equilibrium conditions: oscillatory motion of an Unruh-DeWitt detector, JHEP 11 (2013) 119 [arXiv:1307.4360] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A.R. Lee and I. Fuentes, Spatially extended Unruh-DeWitt detectors for relativistic quantum information, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 085041 [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Peres and D.R. Terno, Quantum information and relativity theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 76 (2004) 93 [quant-ph/0212023] [INSPIRE].
- [22] K. Bradler, P. Hayden and P. Panangaden, Quantum communication in Rindler spacetime, Commun. Math. Phys. 312 (2012) 361 [arXiv:1007.0997] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Mancini, R. Pierini and M.M. Wilde, Preserving information from the beginning to the end of time in a Robertson-Walker spacetime, New J. Phys. 16 (2014) 123049
 [arXiv:1405.2510] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Steane, Unruh effect and macroscopic quantum interference, arXiv:1512.00755 [INSPIRE].
- [25] Z. Tian, J. Wang, J. Jing and A. Dragan, Entanglement enhanced thermometry in the detection of the Unruh effect, Annals Phys. 377 (2017) 1 [arXiv:1603.01122] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Louko and V. Toussaint, Unruh-DeWitt detector's response to fermions in flat spacetimes, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 064027 [arXiv:1608.01002] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Brodutch and D.R. Terno, Why should we care about quantum discord?, arXiv:1608.01920.
- [28] M. Czachor, Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen-Bohm experiment with relativistic massive particles, Phys. Rev. A 55 (1997) 72 [quant-ph/9609022] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Bramon and M. Nowakowski, Bell inequalities for entangled pairs of neutral kaons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 1 [hep-ph/9811406] [INSPIRE].
- [30] F. Benatti and R. Floreanini, Direct CP-violation as a test of quantum mechanics, Eur. Phys. J. C 13 (2000) 267 [hep-ph/9912348] [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Peres, P.F. Scudo and D.R. Terno, Quantum entropy and special relativity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 230402 [quant-ph/0203033] [INSPIRE].
- [32] P. Caban, J. Rembielinski, K.A. Smolinski, Z. Walczak and M. Włodarczyk, An Open quantum system approach to EPR correlations in K0 anti-K0 system, Phys. Lett. A 357 (2006) 6 [quant-ph/0603169] [INSPIRE].
- [33] M. Blasone, F. Dell'Anno, S. De Siena, M. Di Mauro and F. Illuminati, Multipartite entangled states in particle mixing, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 096002 [arXiv:0711.2268] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Khan and M.K. Khan, Open quantum systems in noninertial frames, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 045305.
- [35] L. Lello, D. Boyanovsky and R. Holman, Entanglement entropy in particle decay, JHEP 11 (2013) 116 [arXiv:1304.6110] [INSPIRE].

- [36] S. Banerjee, A.K. Alok and R. MacKenzie, Quantum correlations in B and K meson systems, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 131 (2016) 129 [arXiv:1409.1034] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A.K. Alok, S. Banerjee and S.U. Sankar, Quantum correlations in terms of neutrino oscillation probabilities, Nucl. Phys. B 909 (2016) 65 [arXiv:1411.5536] [INSPIRE].
- [38] N. Nikitin, V. Sotnikov and K. Toms, Proposal for experimental test of the time-dependent Wigner inequalities for neutral pseudoscalar meson systems, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 016008 [arXiv:1503.05332] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Banerjee, A.K. Alok, R. Srikanth and B.C. Hiesmayr, A quantum information theoretic analysis of three flavor neutrino oscillations, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 487 [arXiv:1508.03480] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Banerjee, A.K. Alok and S. Omkar, Quantum Fisher and Skew information for Unruh accelerated Dirac qubit, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 437 [arXiv:1511.03029] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J.A. Formaggio, D.I. Kaiser, M.M. Murskyj and T.E. Weiss, Violation of the Leggett-Garg inequality in neutrino oscillations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 050402 [arXiv:1602.00041]
 [INSPIRE].
- [42] V.B. Braginsky and Yu.I. Vorontsov, Quantum-mechanical limitations in macroscopic experiments and modern experimental technique, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 114 (1974) 41 [Sov. Phys. Usp. 17 (1975) 644].
- [43] C.M. Caves, K.S. Thorne, R.W.P. Drever, V.D. Sandberg and M. Zimmermann, On the measurement of a weak classical force coupled to a quantum mechanical oscillator. I. Issues of principle, Rev. Mod. Phys. 52 (1980) 341 [INSPIRE].
- [44] VIRGO, LIGO SCIENTIFIC collaboration, B.P. Abbott et al., Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102
 [arXiv:1602.03837] [INSPIRE].
- [45] R. Srikanth and S. Banerjee, The squeezed generalized amplitude damping channel, Phys. Rev. A 77 (2008) 012318.
- [46] S. Omkar, R. Srikanth and S. Banerjee, Dissipative and non-dissipative single-qubit channels: dynamics and geometry, Quantum Inf. Process. 12 (2013) 3725.
- [47] S. Banerjee, Decoherence and dissipation of an open quantum system with a squeezed and frequency modulated heat bath Physica A 337 (2004) 67.
- [48] S. Banerjee and R. Srikanth, Phase difusion in quantum dissipative systems, Phys. Rev. A 76 (2007) 062109.
- [49] D.E. Bruschi, J. Louko, E. Martin-Martinez, A. Dragan and I. Fuentes, The Unruh effect in quantum information beyond the single-mode approximation, Phys. Rev. A 82 (2010) 042332 [arXiv:1007.4670] [INSPIRE].
- [50] E. Maheshan, Depolarizing behavior of quantum channels in higher dimensions, Quantum Inf. Comput. **11** (2011) 0466.
- [51] M.D. Bowdrey et al., Fidelity of single qubit maps, Phys. Lett. A 294 (2002) 258.
- [52] P.D. Nation, J.R. Johansson, M.P. Blencowe and F. Nori, Stimulating uncertainty: amplifying the quantum vacuum with superconducting circuits, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1103.0835] [INSPIRE].

- [53] U. Singh, M.N. Bera, H.S. Dhar and A.K. Pati, Maximally coherent mixed states: complementarity between maximal coherence and mixedness, Phys. Rev. A 91 (2015) 052115.
- [54] S. Weinberg, The quantum theory of fields, volume 1, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1996).
- [55] M. Montero and E. Martin-Martinez, Fermionic entanglement ambiguity in non-inertial frames, Phys. Rev. A 83 (2011) 062323 [arXiv:1104.2307] [INSPIRE].
- [56] K. Bradler and R. Jauregui, Comment on 'Fermionic entanglement ambiguity in noninertial frames', Phys. Rev. A 85 (2012) 016301 [arXiv:1201.1045] [INSPIRE].
- [57] M. Montero and E. Martin-Martinez, Comment on 'On two misconceptions in current relativistic quantum information', Phys. Rev. A 85 (2012) 016302 [arXiv:1108.6074]
 [INSPIRE].
- [58] P. Caban, K. Podlaski, J. Rembielinski, K.A. Smolinski and Z. Walczak, Entanglement and tensor product decomposition for two fermions, J. Phys. A 38 (2005) L79 [quant-ph/0405108] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S. Majid, Foundations of quantum group theory, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1995).
- [60] D.W. Leung, Choi's proof as a recipe for quantum process tomography, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 528.
- [61] T.F. Havel, Procedures for converting among Lindblad, Kraus and matrix representations of quantum dynamical semigroups, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 534.
- [62] S. Omkar, S. Banerjee, R. Srikanth and A.K. Alok, The Unruh effect interpreted as a quantum noise channel, Quantum Inf. Comput. 16 (2016) 0757 [arXiv:1408.1477] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J.F. Clauser and A. Shimony, Bell's theorem: experimental tests and implications, Rept. Prog. Phys. 41 (1978) 1881 [INSPIRE].
- [64] R. Horodecki, P. Horodecki and M. Horodecki, Violating Bell inequality by mixed spin-1/2 states: necessary and sufficient condition, Phys. Lett. A 200 (1995) 340.
- [65] W.K. Wootters, Entanglement of formation of an arbitrary state of two qubits, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 (1998) 2245 [quant-ph/9709029] [INSPIRE].
- [66] R. Horodecki, M. Horodecki and P. Horodecki, Teleportation, Bell's inequalities and inseparability, Phys. Lett. A 222 (1996) 21 [quant-ph/9606027] [INSPIRE].
- [67] S. Luo, Quantum discord for two-qubit systems, Phys. Rev. A 77 (2008) 042303.
- [68] R. Srikanth, S. Banerjee and C.M. Chandrashekar, Quantumness in decoherent quantum walk using measurement-induced disturbance, Phys. Rev. A 81 (2010) 062123.
- [69] S. Banerjee and R. Ghosh, Dynamics of decoherence without dissipation in a squeezed thermal bath, J. Phys. A 40 (2007) 13735.
- [70] S. Banerjee, J. Ghosh and R. Ghosh, Phase diffusion pattern in quantum nondemolition systems, Phys. Rev. A 75 (2007) 062106.
- [71] S. Banerjee and R. Srikanth, Geometric phase of a qubit interacting with a squeezed-thermal bath, Eur. Phys. J. D 46 (2008) 335.

- [72] N. A. Peters, T.C. Wei and P.G. Kwiat, Mixed-state sensitivity of several quantum-information benchmarks, Phys. Rev. A 70 (2004) 052309.
- [73] N. Friis, P. Kohler, E. Martin-Martinez and R.A. Bertlmann, Residual entanglement of accelerated fermions is not nonlocal, Phys. Rev. A 84 (2011) 062111 [arXiv:1107.3235]
 [INSPIRE].
- [74] E. Martin-Martinez and I. Fuentes, Redistribution of particle and anti-particle entanglement in non-inertial frames, Phys. Rev. A 83 (2011) 052306 [arXiv:1102.4759] [INSPIRE].
- [75] D.E. Bruschi, A. Dragan, I. Fuentes and J. Louko, Particle and anti-particle bosonic entanglement in non-inertial frames, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 025026 [arXiv:1205.5296]
 [INSPIRE].
- [76] M. Montero and E. Martin-Martinez, Convergence of fermionic field entanglement at infinite acceleration in relativistic quantum information, Phys. Rev. A 85 (2012) 024301
 [arXiv:1111.6070] [INSPIRE].
- [77] A. Dragan, J. Doukas and E. Martin-Martinez, Localized detection of quantum entanglement through the event horizon, Phys. Rev. A 87 (2013) 052326 [arXiv:1207.4275].
- [78] J. Doukas, E.G. Brown, A. Dragan and R.B. Mann, Entanglement and discord: accelerated observations of local and global modes, Phys. Rev. A 87 (2013) 012306 [arXiv:1209.3461].